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 SIRHAN BISHARA SIRHAN, PRISONER in the California 

State Prison at Corcoran, California, Petitioner, makes 

this opposition to Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. § 2444, and admits, denies, and alleges as 

follows: 

 1.Petitioner hereby incorporates by reference all of 

the allegations, admissions, and denials contained within 



2 
 

his petition for habeas relief filed in this court on May 

25, 2000. 

 2. The petition is timely under 28 U.S.C. 2244. 

 3. The petition is not procedurally barred because the 

state law procedure which purportedly bars the petition 

was, at the time it was applied to Petitioner, neither 

adequate to support the state court judgment nor 

independent of federal law. 

 4. The petition does not contain exhausted claims 

because they were all fairly presented to the state supreme 

court. 

 5. Any alleged procedural default and failure to 

exhaust state remedies is excused because Petitioner is 

“actually innocent” of the crimes for which he has been 

convicted. 

 6. The prosecution deprived Petitioner of his 

constitutional right to due process and effective 

assistance of counsel by suppressing evidence, failing to 

disclose evidence, failing to turn over evidence, altering 

evidence, and destroying evidence.  Petitioner further 

alleges that the evidence is insufficient for conviction. 

 7. Petitioner was denied his right to effective 

assistance of counsel because counsel, acting out of a 

conflict of interest, improperly conceded the authenticity 

of the state’s evidence and failed to explore alternative 

trial strategies. 

 8. Petitioner has continually asserted that he had no 

memory of the events and that his admissions was based on 

forming an opinion based solely upon the fact that others, 

including his attorneys, repeatedly told Petitioner that he 

was responsible for the assassination. 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 1 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 2 

 On April 17, 1969, a jury in the Los Angeles County 3 

Superior Court convicted Petitioner of the 1968 first-4 

degree murder (Cal. Penal Code § 187), of Senator Robert F. 5 

Kennedy and fixed the penalty at death; it also found 6 

Petitioner guilty of assaulting Paul Schrade, Irwin Stroll, 7 

William Weisel, Elizabeth Evans and Ira Goldstein with a 8 

deadly weapon and with intent to commit murder (Cal. Penal 9 

Code § 217); prison sentences were imposed on the latter 10 

convictions.  People v. Sirhan, 7 Cal. 3d 710, 716-17, 102 11 

Cal. Rptr. 385 (1972); Clerk’s Transcript [“CT” 315-23, 12 

344-45.)  On automatic appeal, the California Supreme Court 13 

affirmed all Petitioner's convictions, but modified the 14 

judgment to impose life imprisonment, based on that court’s 15 

prior invalidation of the death penalty.  Sirhan, 7 Cal. 3d 16 

at 717, 755. 17 

 On February 13, 1975, the California Supreme Court 18 

summarily denied Petitioner's first petition for a writ of 19 

habeas corpus, filed on January 13, 1975, in which he 20 

claimed, inter alia, that the prosecution suppressed 21 

evidence that an unknown "second gunman" fired the bullet 22 

that killed Senator Kennedy.  That same year, the Los 23 

Angeles Superior Court, the Honorable Robert A. Wenke 24 

presiding, conducted discovery proceedings to permit a 25 

panel of seven firearms experts to re-examine ballistics 26 

evidence from the trial (L.A.S.C. Case No. A233421 27 

[hereinafter, the "1975 Reinvestigation"]). (RE A.3/)  The 28 

resulting Comprehensive Joint Report of The Firearms 29 

Examiners found no evidence that a second gun had been 30 

fired.  (RE B, ¶ 1.)   31 
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 On April 21, 1997, Petitioner filed a habeas corpus 1 

petition in the Los Angeles County Superior Court (“LASC”). 2 

On April 30, 1997, the court denied the petition on the 3 

merits.  In its order, the court noted that Petitioner had 4 

offered to plead guilty to first-degree murder in exchange 5 

for a sentence of life in prison, and that at trial, 6 

Petitioner admitted shooting Senator Kennedy.  (Order, 7 

A233421, April 30, 1997.)  Petitioner has continually 8 

asserted that he has no memory of the events and that his 9 

admission was based on forming an opinion based solely upon 10 

what others around him told him. 11 

 On May 1, 1997, Petitioner filed a habeas corpus 12 

petition in the California Court of Appeal in case number 13 

B111657.  On June 17, 1997, the Court of Appeal denied the 14 

petition.  The court ruled that Petitioner did not 15 

sufficiently justify his delay in filing the petition; 16 

Petitioner was estopped1 from claiming someone else killed 17 

Senator Kennedy after testifying at trial that he himself 18 

did; there was no violation of Petitioner’s constitutional 19 

rights; and there was no basis for doubting the correctness 20 

of the verdict. (Order, B111657, at 2-8.)  On June 20, 21 

1997, Petitioner filed a habeas corpus petition in the 22 

California Supreme Court in case number S062258.  On May 23 

24, 2000, the state high court denied the petition as 24 

untimely and alternatively denied it on the merits.2  25 

Petitioner filed the instant Petition on May 25, 2000. 26 

                                                 
1 Petitioner objects to any assertion that he is estopped from denying 
his guilt because Petitioner has consistently stated that he has no 
memory of the events and that his admission was based on forming an 
opinion based solely upon what others around him told him.  Moreover, 
any so-called admission, as Petitioner will show, is solely the product 
of a denial of Petitioner’s constitutional rights. 
2 Petitioner notes that no consideration of the merits could have 
occurred where there is an alleged procedural default. 
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ARGUMENT 1 

I. 2 

THE PETITION NEED NOT BE DISMISSED AS UNTIMELY BECAUSE 3 

THE PREDICATE STATE COURT DECISION UPON WHICH 4 

RESPONDENT ARGUES THAT PETITION IS NOT TIMELY DID NOT 5 

REST ON ADEQUATE OR INDEPENDENT STATE GROUNDS AND IS 6 

THEREFORE SUBJECT TO REVIEW IN FEDERAL COURT 7 

 As an initial matter, it should be noted that 8 

Respondent has already pled that the petition was timely 9 

filed under §2244(d) (Resp. Answer 2:9-10), and this entire 10 

avenue of argument is therefore foreclosed.   11 

 Assuming, however, this matter has not been foreclosed 12 

to the Respondent, it still does not follow that the 13 

petition was untimely.  Respondent’s argument that the 14 

statute of limitations has not been tolled is dependent 15 

upon an assertion that the petition was not “properly” 16 

filed in state court because the state court ruled the 17 

petition untimely.  (Resp. Motion to Dismiss 5.).  18 

According to Respondent, this court is barred from 19 

reviewing the decisions of the California courts with 20 

respect to the timeliness of the state petitions because 21 

the question of timeliness is an adequate and independent 22 

state ground federal courts cannot review.  (Resp. Motion 23 

to Dismiss 6.).  It is certainly true that federal courts 24 

cannot review the judgments of state courts if those 25 

judgments rest upon adequate and independent state grounds.  26 

E.g., Michigan v. Long, 463 U.S. 1032, 1039 n.4 (1983).  At 27 

the time of its application to Petitioner, however, 28 

California’s timeliness rule was neither adequate nor 29 

independent.   30 
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 In their answer, Respondents relied upon Bennett v. 1 

Mueller, 273 F.3d 895 (9th Cir. 2001)3to argue that “for 2 

decisions postdating In re Robbins, California’s timeliness 3 

bar is not interwoven with federal law and is an 4 

independent procedural ground for barring federal habeas 5 

relief.”  (Resp. Suppl. Mem. of Points and Authorities 6 

2:22-24.).  This excerpt and citation to Mueller is 7 

misplaced because the applicable decision does not postdate 8 

Robbins.  The California Supreme Court denied petitioner’s 9 

habeas claims on May 24, 2000, while Robbins was decided in 10 

1998.  Certainly the California Supreme Court’s order of 11 

2000 postdates its 1998 decision in Robbins.  The Supreme 12 

Court’s 2000 decision, however, is not the applicable 13 

measuring point.  The entirety of the dismissal order 14 

stated: “Petition for writ of habeas corpus DENIED on the 15 

merits and as untimely.”  (Order, S062258.).  The United 16 

States Supreme Court, however, has held that “[w]here there 17 

has been one reasoned state judgment rejecting a federal 18 

claim, later unexplained orders upholding that judgment or 19 

rejecting the same claim rest upon the same ground.”  Ylst 20 

v. Nunnemaker, 501 U.S. 797, 803 (1991).  The California 21 

Supreme Court’s order is an “unexplained order...rejecting 22 

the same claim” as the lower court had because of how 23 

cursory it was(i.e., an “unexplained order upholding the 24 

judgment”) and is therefore “presumed to have rested upon 25 

the same ground.”  Id. at 803.  Based on the United States 26 

Supreme Court’s holding in Nunnemaker, then, the 27 

controlling opinion in this case is that of California 28 

Court of Appeals for the Second Appellate District, 29 

                                                 
3 Respondent cites the case as Bennett v. Mueller, __ F.3d __, 2001 WL 
1511977 (9th Cir. Nov. 29, 2001) because the full standard citation was 
not available at the time of the answer. 



8 
 

Division Five, dated June 17, 1997, because it, and not the 1 

California Supreme Court’s opinion of May 24, 2000, is the 2 

“last reasoned opinion” on the claim.4 3 

 The appellate division’s discussion of timeliness, the 4 

only ground for procedural default asserted in the opinion, 5 

is not sufficiently “independent” of federal law to 6 

prohibit this court from reaching the merits of 7 

Petitioner’s federal claims.  A state procedural rule is 8 

sufficiently “independent” of federal law when the former 9 

is not “interwoven” with the latter.  Michigan v. Long, 463 10 

U.S. at 1040-41.  A state law judgment is “interwoven” with 11 

federal law when “the State has made application of the 12 

procedural bar depend on an antecedent ruling on federal 13 

law,” Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 75 (1985).   14 

 An examination of California’s timeliness rule as it 15 

existed when Petitioner allegedly defaulted demonstrates 16 

that in concluding Petitioner had violated that rule, the 17 

California courts necessarily reached a determination with 18 

respect to federal law.  In dismissing the petition as 19 

untimely, the appellate court chiefly relied upon the 20 

California Supreme Court’s decision in In re Clark, 5 Cal. 21 

4th 750 (1993), for its timeliness holding.  Clark held 22 

that unless a petitioner can demonstrate one of (1) a lack 23 

of substantial delay in bringing a habeas petition; (2) 24 

good cause for any delay; or, (3) one of four exceptions to 25 

the application of the timeliness rule, a habeas petitioner 26 

                                                 
4 Even if the 2000 opinion of the California Supreme Court is deemed to 
be the proper one for determining the independence and adequacy of the 
state grounds, it still cannot be considered to have postdated Robbins 
because the adequacy and independence of a state procedure are 
determined from the time of Petitioner’s alleged default.  Lambright v. 
Stewart, 241 F.3d 1201, 1203 (9th Cir. 2001).  The last possible date 
Petitioner could be deemed to have been in default is June 20, 1997, 
when a petition for a writ of habeas corpus was filed in California 
Supreme Court.  This pre-dates the Robbins decision in 1998. 
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will be time-barred from bringing his or her claims.  Id. 1 

at 782-87.  One of the four exceptions to California’s 2 

timeliness bar, under Clark, is the existence of 3 

“constitutional error rendering a trial so fundamentally 4 

unfair that no reasonable judge or jury would have 5 

convicted the petitioner.”  Id. at 797-98.5   6 

 In 1998, the California Supreme Court had an 7 

opportunity to review the extent to which these exceptions 8 

depended upon the application of federal law: 9 

 10 

[I]n applying [the nonharmless constitutional 11 
error exception] and finding it inapplicable we 12 
shall, in this case and in the future, adopt the 13 
following approach as our standard practice: We 14 
need not and will not decide whether the alleged 15 
error actually constitutes a federal 16 
constitutional violation. Instead, we shall 17 
assume, for the purpose of addressing the 18 
procedural issue, that a federal constitutional 19 
error is stated, and we shall find the exception 20 
inapposite if, based upon our application of 21 
state law, it cannot be said that the asserted 22 
error “led to a trial that was so fundamentally 23 
unfair that absent the error no reason-able judge 24 
or jury would have convicted the petitioner.”  In 25 
re Robbins, 18 Cal. 4th 770, 811-12 (1998) 26 
(emphasis added). 27 
 28 

That the California Supreme Court decided in Robbins it 29 

would “adopt” the approach of relying solely upon state law 30 

to adjudicate the Clark exceptions “in the future” suggests 31 

that prior to Robbins determination of these questions 32 

depended in part upon the application of federal law.   33 

                                                 
5 The other three exceptions are (1) actual innocence; (2) imposition of 
the death penalty where the sentencing authority had been so misled 
that absent the error or omission no reasonable or judge or jury would 
have imposed a death sentence; and, (3) the statute under which 
petitioner was convicted and/or sentenced is invalid.  Clark, 5 Cal. 
4th at 797-98. 
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 Picking up on this language of future application in 1 

Robbins, the Ninth Circuit has already explicitly held that 2 

prior to Robbins, a California State Court that dismissed 3 

or denied a habeas petition for untimeliness necessarily 4 

relied upon federal law in adjudicating the Clark factors.  5 

Specifically, the Ninth Circuit has stated that the Robbins 6 

court “recognized that, when reviewing state habeas 7 

petitions for the untimeliness ground embodied in Clark, 8 

California courts previously considered the federal 9 

constitutional merits of the petitions in determining 10 

whether the petitions qualified for an exception to the 11 

rule of procedural default.”  Bennett v. Mueller, 322 F.3d 12 

573, 581 (9th Cir. 2003) (internal citations omitted).  13 

Petitioner alleged several grounds for habeas relief, 14 

including (1) ineffective assistance of counsel; (2) 15 

violation of the Brady rule that prosecutors must disclose 16 

exculpatory evidence; and, (3) violation of Petitioner’s 17 

due process rights through the admission of perjured 18 

testimony.  (Pet. for Writ of Habeas Corpus June 20, 1997.)  19 

Thus, due to “Robbins's acknowledgment that the 20 

constitutional error exception encompassed consideration by 21 

the court of the merits of federal constitutional 22 

questions,” Park v. California, 202 F.3d 1146, 1153 (2000), 23 

the appellate court “necessarily made an antecedent ruling 24 

on federal law before,” Id., in dismissing Petitioner’s 25 

federal habeas claims.  Respondent all but conceded that 26 

for decisions prior to Robbins, California’s timeliness 27 

rule is not independent of federal law in writing “The 28 

court further held that, for decisions postdating In re 29 

Robbins, California’s timeliness bar is not interwoven with 30 

federal law and is an independent procedural ground barring 31 
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federal habeas relief.”  (Resp. Suppl. Mem. of Points and 1 

Authorities 2:20-24.)  2 

 In their answer to the petition for a writ of habeas 3 

corpus in this court, Respondent relied heavily on Bargas 4 

v. Burns, 179 F.3d 1207 (9th Cir. 1999), to argue that 5 

“[t]the state procedural default in Bargas is independent 6 

of federal law in precisely the same way that Robbins 7 

establishes California’s untimeliness bar as independent of 8 

federal law.”  (Resp. Answer 14:6-8.)  Respondent’s 9 

reliance on Bargas is misplaced because the court in Bargas 10 

did not confront California’s timeliness rule.  Rather, at 11 

issue was a Nevada rule of procedural default.  Thus 12 

Bargas, because it dealt with Nevada’s procedural default 13 

rules, is not authoritative precedent in determining if 14 

California’s timeliness rules are independent of federal 15 

law.  The precedential value of Bargas to this case is 16 

therefore determined by how closely the procedural default 17 

rule at issue in Bargas resembles California’s timeliness 18 

rule.  The Bargas court described Nevada’s procedural 19 

default rule as follows: “In order to find procedural 20 

default, a court need only consider whether a claim was 21 

raised or could have been raised in a prior petition and 22 

whether the petitioner demonstrated cause and prejudice for 23 

failing to raise that claim.”  Id., at 1214.  There are no 24 

exceptions to the Nevada procedural default rule that was 25 

at issue in Bargas other that “demonstrated cause and 26 

prejudice.”  California’s timeliness rule does require a 27 

similar inquiry into cause, but also adds the additional 28 

element of the four Clark exceptions.  One of the Clark 29 

exceptions, “constitutional error rendering a trial so 30 

fundamentally unfair that no reasonable judge or jury would 31 

have convicted the petitioner,” was at the time of 32 
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Petitioner’s alleged default dependent upon an antecedent 1 

judgment on federal.  Moreover, there was no similar 2 

exception to the Nevada rule at issue in Bargas.  The 3 

relevance of Bargas to this proceeding is confined to the 4 

undisputed and obvious proposition that where a state 5 

court’s procedural default ruling is not interwoven with 6 

federal law, then that state court procedural rule and 7 

state court ruling may be considered “independent” state 8 

grounds for denying a habeas petition.   9 

 In sum, because both the California Supreme Court and 10 

the Ninth Circuit have held and acknowledged that 11 

application of California’s timeliness requirement was 12 

dependent upon federal law prior to Robbins in 1998, the 13 

appellate court’s dismissal of Petitioner’s claims for lack 14 

of timeliness in 1997 is sufficiently “interwoven” with 15 

federal law such that it is not an “independent” state law 16 

procedural basis for barring further habeas review in this 17 

court.  That no state court specifically discussed the 18 

Clark exceptions in dismissing petitioner’s habeas claims 19 

is irrelevant because in dismissing federal constitutional 20 

claims prior to Robbins, a California State habeas court 21 

necessarily decided the federal issues underlying the Clark 22 

exceptions.  See Robbins, 18 Cal. 4th 815 n.34 (“[W]hen in 23 

our orders we impose the bar of untimeliness, this 24 

signifies that we...have determined that the petitioner has 25 

failed to establish the absence of substantial delay or 26 

good cause for delay, and that none of the four exceptions 27 

set out in Clark apply.” (Emphasis in the original) 28 

(internal citations omitted); see also, Park, 202 F.3d at 29 

1152 (“The California Supreme Court recently stated that 30 

prior to 1998 it necessarily addressed fundamental 31 
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constitutional claims when applying the Dixon6 rule.  1 

Therefore, if ‘fundamental constitutional rights’ include 2 

federal-law issues, the denial of Park's petition citing to 3 

Dixon was not independent of federal law and does not 4 

preclude federal habeas review.”) (Internal citations 5 

omitted). 6 

 Not only was California’s timeliness rule not 7 

independent of federal law at the time of Petitioner’s 8 

alleged default, it also was not adequate to support such a 9 

judgment.  In order to be considered “adequate,” state 10 

procedural default rules must be both (1) firmly 11 

established and (2) consistently applied.  E.g., Poland v. 12 

Stewart, 169 F.3d 573, 577 (9th Cir.1999).  State 13 

procedural default rules may be inconsistently applied when 14 

they either “(1) have been selectively applied to bar the 15 

claims of certain litigants ... [or] (2)...are so unsettled 16 

due to ambiguous or changing state authority that applying 17 

them to bar a litigant's claim is unfair.”  E.g., Mueller, 18 

322 F.3d at 583 (citing Morales v. Calderon, 85 F.3d 1387, 19 

1392 (9th Cir.1996)). 20 

 The burden of proof on the adequate and independent 21 

state grounds issue unfolds in three distinct phases.  22 

First, because an adequate and independent state procedural 23 

bar is an affirmative defense, the initial burden is on 24 

                                                 
6 The Dixon rule is similar to the timeliness rule in that both are 
procedural requirements that habeas petitioners must meet before a 
California court reaches the merits of a claim.  Specifically, Dixon 
requires that a claim be presented for direct appellate review before 
it can be attacked collaterally through a habeas petition.  In re 
Dixon, 41 Cal.2d 756, 264 P.2d 513 (1953).  The Dixon rule, however, is 
sufficiently analogous to the timeliness rule in that (1) both function 
as procedural requirements that habeas petitioners must satisfy before 
a state habeas court will collaterally review the merits of a 
petitioner’s claims; and, (2) both are subject to the same “fundamental 
constitutional error” exception.  See Generally, Park, 202 F.3d at 
1151-52, 1152 n.3. 
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“the state [to] adequately [plead] the existence of an 1 

independent and adequate state procedural ground as an 2 

affirmative defense.”  Mueller, 322 F.3d at 586.  Second, 3 

once the state has so adequately pled, “the burden to place 4 

that defense in issue shifts to the petitioner. The 5 

petitioner may satisfy this burden by asserting specific 6 

factual allegations that demonstrate the in-adequacy of the 7 

state procedure, including citation to authority 8 

demonstrating inconsistent application of the rule.”  Id.  9 

Third and finally, once the petitioner discharges its 10 

burden of proof on the adequate and independent state 11 

grounds issue, “the ultimate burden is the state's.”  Id.  12 

In the specific context of California’s untimeliness rule, 13 

this burden-of-proof analysis differs slightly because the 14 

Ninth Circuit has previously held that California’s 15 

untimeliness rule is not an adequate and independent state 16 

procedural ground in Morales v. Calderon, 85 F.3d 1387 (9th 17 

Cir. 1996).  The Ninth Circuit held in King v. Lamarque, 18 

464 F.3d 963 (9th Cir. 2006), that “because we held in 19 

Morales that the California timeliness rule was 20 

insufficiently clear, the government must show...that the 21 

rule has since been clarified...and that the clarified rule 22 

has since been consistently applied.”  Lamarque, 464 F.3d 23 

at 967.7   24 

                                                 
7 The Lamarque court primarily characterized this modification of the 
burden of proof as a lessening of the petitioner’s burden at the second 
stage rather than an increase to the respondent’s initial burden.  
Lamarque, 464 F.3d at 967 (“The question then arises: Is simply 
contesting the adequacy of a state rule sufficient to meet the 
petitioner's burden under Bennett if we have previously found the rule 
to be too ambiguous to bar federal review during the applicable time 
period? We hold it is....[W]here we have already made a determination 
regarding the adequacy of the state procedural rule, the petitioner's 
method of placing the defense in issue must be modified.”).  Cases 
postdating Lamarque, however, have described this modification to the 
burden of proof as being on the respondent rather than the petitioner.  
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 Respondent has failed to discharge its burden to show 1 

that California’s untimeliness rule “has since been 2 

clarified...and...since been consistently applied” since 3 

the Ninth Circuit decided Morales in 1996.  Respondent 4 

cites exactly one post-Morales California Supreme Court 5 

Case on timeliness, In re Robbins, 18 Cal. 4th 770 (1998).  6 

The citation to Robbins, however, is insufficient to 7 

discharge the respondent’s initial burden to show that 8 

California’s “substantial delay” standard has been 9 

clarified post-Morales.  Respondents’ citation to Robbins 10 

merely establishes (1) that a timeliness rule exists in 11 

California, and (2) that the California Supreme Court has 12 

applied the timeliness rule whenever it determines there 13 

has been a “substantial delay.”  Respondents’ citation to 14 

Robbins, and the Robbins opinion itself, nowhere explains 15 

what constitutes a “substantial delay.”  The citation to 16 

Robbins, without any other California authority to supply 17 

standards for determining what constitutes a “substantial 18 

delay,” does not discharge respondent’s burden because “[a] 19 

procedural rule can be neither well-established nor 20 

consistently applied if it is not ‘clear and certain.’”  21 

Townsend v. Knowles, 562 F.3d 1200, 1207 (9th Cir. 2009) 22 

(citing King v. Lamarque, 464 F.3d 963, 965 (9th 23 
                                                                                                                                                 
See Townsend v. Knowles, 562 F.3d 1200, 1208 (9th Cir. 2009) (“Because 
the government offers no evidence that California operated under clear 
standards for determining what constituted “substantial delay” in 2001, 
it failed to meet its burden of proving that California's timeliness 
bar was sufficiently clear and certain to be an adequate state bar.”).  
Because a petitioner’s burden of proof is so minimal and easy to 
discharge, the end result is almost inevitably simply an increased 
burden on the government.  As such, the modification of Lamarque is 
discussed here as increasing respondent’s burden of proof.  Regardless, 
the outcome is the same because petitioner here contests the adequacy 
of California’s timeliness rule, thus shifting the burden of proof back 
to the government to make a heightened showing.  Thus, whether the 
Lamarque modification applies to respondent’s initial burden or 
petitioner’s secondary one, petitioner has discharged its burden of 
proof and it is now incumbent upon the respondent to rebut. 
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Cir.2006)).  A citation to California authority that merely 1 

demonstrates the existence of the timeliness rule does not 2 

render the rule sufficiently “clear and certain” because, 3 

as the Ninth Circuit reasoned in rejecting the state’s 4 

similar argument in Lamarque, “There are no standards for 5 

determining what period of time or factors constitute 6 

‘substantial delay’....There are also no standards for 7 

determining what factors justify any particular length of 8 

delay. The rule's ambiguity is not clarified by the 9 

California Supreme Court's application of the timeliness 10 

bar, in part because the court usually rejects cases 11 

without explanation, only citing Clark and Robbins, as it 12 

did here.”  Lamarque, 464 F.3d at 966.  Furthermore, 13 

frequent application of the rule is similarly insufficient 14 

to demonstrate it is an adequate state procedural bar to 15 

federal habeas review because, as the Ninth Circuit wrote 16 

in holding that the government had failed to carry its 17 

initial burden on the adequacy of California’s timeliness 18 

rule: “Frequent application of a vague standard in 19 

dispositions that offer no guidance...does not serve to 20 

clarify that standard.”  Knowles, 562 F.3d at 1208 (citing 21 

Lamarque, 464 F.3d at 966).8 22 

                                                 
8 Respondent does cite three other California cases in addition to 
Robbins for the proposition that California’s untimeliness rule is 
clear and consistently applied so as to render it an adequate state 
procedural bar.  The cases are In re Harris, 5 Cal. 4th 813 (1993); In 
re Clark, 5 Cal. 4th 750 (1993); and In re Swain, 34 Cal. 2d 300 
(1949).  These cases are completely irrelevant, as the Ninth Circuit 
ruled in 1996 that, at that time, California’s substantial delay 
doctrine was not an adequate state procedural ground.  Morales v. 
Calderon, 85 F.3d 1387 (9th Cir. 1996).  Thus respondent can discharge 
its initial burden only by citing post-1996 California authority.  Cf. 
Ranieri v. Terhune, 366 F.Supp.2d 934, 942 (C.D. California, 2005) 
(holding government could satisfy its burden of showing that 
California’s timeliness rule is adequate by citing “to post- Clark 
cases which identify California's timeliness standards.”). 
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 As additional support for its argument that 1 

California’s timeliness rule is an adequate state 2 

procedural bar, Respondent cites Deere v. Calderon, 890 3 

F.Supp. 893 (C.D. Cal. 1995), for the proposition that 4 

“after the California Supreme Court’s 1993 decisions in In 5 

re Clark and In re Harris, the California Supreme Court has 6 

applied the timeliness procedural bar with consistency in 7 

death penalty habeas corpus cases.”  (Resp. Answer 8:22-8 

25.).  In Mueller, however, the Ninth Circuit held that it 9 

was error for a federal district court reviewing a state 10 

prisoner’s habeas petition to rely upon Deere for the 11 

proposition that the California Supreme Court has 12 

consistently applied the timeliness rule such that it 13 

constitutes an adequate state procedural bar because doing 14 

so does not conform to the three-step burden analysis the 15 

Ninth Circuit found appropriate for this issue.  Mueller, 16 

322 F.3d at 583-584. 17 

 In a last grasp to demonstrate the adequacy of 18 

California’s timeliness rule, respondent relies upon 19 

petitioner’s alleged delay in filing this habeas petition.  20 

Specifically, respondent suggests that because the 21 

California Supreme Court decided Clark and In re Harris, 5 22 

Cal. 4th 813 (1993), 24 four years after petitioner’s 23 

conviction and 21 years after his final state appeal was 24 

denied, then California’s timeliness rule is adequate.  It 25 

is adequate, respondent argues, because “[p]petitioner 26 

therefore had ample notice about California’s requirement 27 

for a timely habeas petition.”  (Resp. Answer 9:22-24).  28 

Despite respondent’s confident assertions to the contrary, 29 

it is entirely unclear if these allegations are even 30 

sufficient to establish a violation of California’s 31 

timeliness rule, let alone that the rule is sufficiently 32 
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clear so as to be an adequate state procedural bar.  It is 1 

unclear that these allegations would establish a 2 

substantial delay because the California Supreme Court has 3 

never sufficiently delineated the standards for what 4 

constitutes a substantial delay.  Petitioner’s case 5 

demonstrates this point extraordinarily well: although the 6 

appellate court cited California authority to demonstrate 7 

the existence of the timeliness rule and the exceptions to 8 

it, not one California case was cited to demonstrate that 9 

Petitioner’s alleged “delay” violated the timeliness rule.  10 

As a result of the appellate court’s inability to rely upon 11 

California authority to determine how long is too long, it 12 

cited no fewer than seven federal cases to make its point.  13 

In re Sirhan Bishara Sirhan, No. B111657, slip op. at 2 14 

(Cal. Ct. App., Second Appellate District, Division Five, 15 

June 17, 1997).   16 

 Even if Respondents’ aforementioned allegations 17 

actually are sufficient to establish that Petitioner failed 18 

to conform to California’s timeliness rules, the ambiguity 19 

inherent in California’s substantial delay rule deprives 20 

all of the California state courts, Respondent, Petitioner, 21 

and this court of any standard by which we can make that 22 

determination.  This case is actually an excellent example 23 

of what the Ninth Circuit had in mind when it held that the 24 

“rule's ambiguity is not clarified by the California 25 

Supreme Court's application of the timeliness bar, in part 26 

because the court usually rejects cases without 27 

explanation, only citing Clark and Robbins, as it did 28 

here.”  Lamarque, 464 F.3d at 966.  When the California 29 

Supreme Court dismissed Petitioner’s claims, the only 30 

explanation it gave was that the claims were “untimely.”  31 

(Order, S062258.).  It provided no explanation of why 32 
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Petitioner’s claims were untimely, and application of 1 

California’s timeliness rule to petitioner cannot therefore 2 

serve to demonstrate that the rule is sufficiently clear to 3 

render it an adequate state procedural bar. 4 

 There are two importance consequences that derive from 5 

the preceding analysis.  First, the judgment of the 6 

California courts that Petitioner’s state petitions were 7 

untimely is subject to review in this court because the 8 

timeliness rule was not an adequate state procedural 9 

ground, and nor was it independent because it was dependent 10 

upon the antecedent ruling with respect to federal law.  11 

Second, and somewhat ironically, the end result of the 12 

application of the adequate and independent state grounds 13 

doctrine to this case requires that the court reach the 14 

merits of Petitioner’s constitutional claims before making 15 

a determination with respect to the statute of limitations 16 

that 28 U.S.C. § 2244(d) imposes upon state prisoners 17 

seeking habeas relief in federal court.  The court must 18 

reach the merits in order to answer the statute of 19 

limitations question because in this particular case the 20 

tolling provision, specifically that the time during which 21 

a petition is properly filed in state court tolls AEDPA’s 22 

one year statute of limitations, is itself dependent upon 23 

the merits of Petitioner’s claim.  That is because in 24 

California, at the time of Petitioner’s alleged default, 25 

when a California court decided a habeas petition was 26 

untimely it necessarily decided that none of its exceptions 27 

applied, including nonharmless federal constitutional 28 

error.  Should this court find nonharmless constitutional 29 

error, then it would be forced to conclude that the 30 

petition was in fact timely under California law, as 31 

nonharmless constitutional error is an exception to the 32 
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timeliness standard.  Moreover, since a finding of 1 

nonharmless constitutional error would necessitate a 2 

finding of timeliness under California law, so too would it 3 

under AEDPA’s statutory tolling provisions because no 4 

longer could it be said that the petition was not 5 

“properly” filed with the state court due to a lack of 6 

timeliness.   7 

II. 8 

THIS COURT HAS SUBJECT-MATTER JURISDICTION OVER 9 
PETITIONER’S CLAIMS BECAUSE THE PETITIONER’S 10 
ALLEGATIONS OF CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR ARE 11 
COGNIZABLE ON HABEAS REVIEW UNDER THE “ACTUAL 12 
INNOCENCE” STANDARD 13 
 14 

 Respondent argues that “Petitioner’s claims are so 15 

farfetched that they merit summary dismissal.”  (Resp. 16 

Motion to Dismiss 12:15-16).  Respondent’s argument suffers 17 

from two major flaws: First, Respondent applies the wrong 18 

standard of review.  According to Respondent, Petitioner’s 19 

“claims are so farfetched that they merit summary 20 

dismissal” based on the evidence adduced at  trial.  (Resp. 21 

Motion to Dismiss 12:15-16).  Respondent again references 22 

the evidence presented at trial as the proper standard of 23 

review in arguing that “[t]he instant Petition fits this 24 

description, particularly in light of the trial record.”  25 

(Resp. Motion to Dismiss 13:5-6.).  The Supreme Court has 26 

specifically held that where actual innocence is alleged, 27 

habeas courts are required to go beyond the trial record: 28 

In assessing the adequacy of petitioner's 29 
showing, therefore, the district court is not 30 
bound by the rules of admissibility that would 31 
govern at trial. Instead, the emphasis on ‘actual 32 
innocence’ allows the reviewing tribunal also to 33 
consider the probative force of relevant evidence 34 
that was either excluded or unavailable at 35 
trial….The habeas court must make its de-36 
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termination concerning the petitioner's innocence 1 
‘in light of all the evidence, including that 2 
alleged to have been illegally admitted (but with 3 
due regard to any unreliability of it) and 4 
evidence tenably claimed to have been wrongly 5 
excluded or to have become available only after 6 
the trial.’  Schlup v. Delo, 513 U.S. 298, 327-38 7 
(1995). 8 
 9 

Because Petitioner asserts here actual innocence, reliance 10 

solely upon evidence introduced at trial is an 11 

inappropriate baseline.  Instead, the court should “make 12 

its de-termination concerning the petitioner's innocence 13 

‘in light of all the evidence, including that alleged to 14 

have been illegally admitted (but with due regard to any 15 

unreliability of it) and evidence tenably claimed to have 16 

been wrongly excluded or to have become available only 17 

after the trial.’” 18 

 The second flaw in Respondent’s argument is that 19 

Respondent offers little, if any, analysis as to why 20 

“Petitioner’s claims are so farfetched that the merit 21 

summary dismissal.”  Other than merely listing Petitioner’s 22 

labels and ascribing labels such as “patently incredible” 23 

and “patently frivolous or false,” Respondent advances two 24 

chief arguments with respect to why “Petitioner’s claims 25 

are so farfetched that the merit summary dismissal.”  26 

First, Respondent reiterates the trial evidence, 27 

specifically citing “eyewitness accounts of the shooting, 28 

ballistics evidence, incriminating writings by the 29 

Petitioner, and Petitioner’s own admissions that he shot 30 

Senator Kennedy.”  (Resp. Motion to Dismiss 13: 5-8.).  31 

This argument has two problems.  First, it repeats 32 

Respondents’ first error of looking to trial evidence as 33 

the appropriate standard.  Second, Petitioner’s allegations 34 

are not inconsistent with these pieces of evidence.  With 35 



22 
 

respect to the eyewitness accounts, Petitioner has never, 1 

and does not now, deny that he fired his weapon at the 2 

Ambassador Hotel that evening.  Second, with respect to the 3 

ballistics evidence, Petitioner is currently alleging that 4 

its admission into evidence was the product of several 5 

constitutional violations, in particular ineffective 6 

assistance, the offering of perjured testimony, and Brady 7 

violations.  To argue that Petitioner’s claims are 8 

frivolous because the ballistics evidence proves it is to 9 

assume the very point in issue.  So too with Petitioner’s 10 

admission at trial: Petitioner is currently alleging that 11 

his admissions were the result of ineffective assistance 12 

and Brady violations.  Thus, the argument that Petitioner’s 13 

admission disproves the merits of his claims is 14 

bootstrapping, to say the least. 15 

 Finally, Respondent’s arguments with respect to the 16 

hypnosis defense simply do not represent that defense 17 

properly.  Respondent first characterizes the hypnosis 18 

defense as suggesting a series of “astounding 19 

coincidences,” (Resp. Motion to Dismiss 13: 8.).  Then, 20 

Respondent dismisses Petitioner’s allegations explaining 21 

those “coincidences,” in particular the hypnosis defense, 22 

by saying simply “it is not the place of the federal courts 23 

to entertain such fantastic allegations, or to provide a 24 

platform for those who wish to rewrite history by 25 

conspiracy mongering.”  Respondent cites no authority for 26 

this argument, and provides no analysis for its 27 

conclusions.  Presuming, as the Petitioner respectfully 28 

submits is the case, that there is sufficient evidence to 29 
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support the claim9-and Respondent nowhere points out where 1 

or how the evidence is insufficient-then it is precisely 2 

“the place of the federal courts to entertain such 3 

fantastic allegations.”  Only where, as here, there is 4 

sufficient evidence supporting the claim, the allegations 5 

are not so fantastic after all. 6 

III. 7 

PETITIONER HAS SUFFICIETLY ALLEGED ACTUAL 8 

INNOCENCE BECAUSE THE NEW EVIDENCE AND 9 

CONSTITUTIONAL ERRORS ESTABLISH IT IS MORE LIKELY 10 

THAN NOT THAT NO REASONABLE JUROR WOULD CONVICT 11 

HIM 12 

 Even if a state prisoner has procedurally defaulted 13 

his federal habeas claims in state court, a federal habeas 14 

court will review the merits of those claims if that 15 

petitioner can demonstrate either cause and prejudice, 16 

E.g., Murray v. Carrier, 477 U.S. 478, 485 (1986) (citing 17 

Wainwright v. Sykes, 433 U.S. 72, 87 (1977)), or if 18 

petitioner can demonstrate a “fundamental miscarriage of 19 

justice.”  Schlup v. Delo, 513 U.S. 298, 314-15 (1995).  20 

Petitioner respectfully submits that any alleged procedural 21 

default is excused because enforcing the rule against 22 

procedural default would result in a “fundamental 23 

miscarriage of justice” insofar as petitioner is actually 24 

innocent of the crime for which he has been convicted. 25 

 In order to meet the “fundamental miscarriage of 26 

justice” standard that allows a habeas petitioner to 27 

overcome any alleged procedural default, a habeas 28 
                                                 
9 Here, for example, there is eyewitness accounts placing Petitioner 
with others on the night of the crime; an eyewitness report that a 
woman told him on the morning before the shooting that she was part of 
a conspiracy to assassinate Senator Kennedy; and the expert testimony 
of Dr. Diamond attesting to and explaining the fact of hypnosis and 
programming. 
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petitioner must demonstrate “[new] evidence of innocence so 1 

strong that a court cannot have confidence in the outcome 2 

of the trial unless the court is also satisfied that the 3 

trial was free of nonharmless constitutional error.”  4 

Schlup, 513 U.S. at 316.  There are thus three requirements 5 

that petitioner must meet in order to qualify for the 6 

“fundamental miscarriage of justice” exception to the 7 

procedural default prong: (1) new evidence of innocence; 8 

(2) nonharmless constitutional error; and, (3) that the new 9 

evidence and nonharmless constitutional error, when viewed 10 

together, undermine a court’s confidence in the verdict at 11 

trial such that “’a constitutional violation has probably 12 

resulted in the conviction of one who is actually 13 

innocent.”  Id., 513 U.S. at 327 (quoting Murray v. 14 

Carrier, 477 U.S. at 496 (1986).   In explaining the 15 

interaction between new evidence of innocence and 16 

nonharmless constitutional error, the Supreme Court 17 

explained:  18 

 19 

[A] court's assumptions about the validity of the 20 
proceedings that resulted in conviction are 21 
fundamentally different…[where] conviction had 22 
been error free. In such a case, when a 23 
petitioner has been “tried before a jury of his 24 
peers, with the full panoply of protections that 25 
our Constitution affords criminal defendants,” it 26 
is appropriate to apply an “‘extraordinarily 27 
high’” standard of review. 28 
 29 
[But where a habeas petitioner] accompanies his 30 
claim of innocence with an assertion of 31 
constitutional error at trial…. [Petitioner’s] 32 
conviction may not be entitled to the same degree 33 
of respect as one…that is the product of an error 34 
free trial.  Id., 513 U.S. at 315-16 (internal 35 
citations omitted). 36 
 37 
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Thus the reason for requiring both a showing of new 1 

evidence and nonharmless constitutional error is, as the 2 

Supreme Court explained, the reduced confidence that is 3 

warranted when nonharmless constitutional error interacts 4 

with new evidence of innocence. 5 

 Petitioner has alleged several nonharmless 6 

constitutional violations.  Petitioner here focuses on two 7 

specifically: (1) the state’s failure to disclose 8 

exculpatory ballistics and autopsy evidence, a violation of 9 

Petitioner’s due process rights under Brady v. Maryland, 10 

373 U.S. 83 (1963); and, (2) violation of petitioner’s 11 

Sixth Amendment right to ineffective assistance of counsel 12 

under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). 13 

A. The State’s Failure to Disclose Exculpatory 14 
Ballistics and Autopsy Evidence Violated Petitioner’s 15 
Right to Due Process Under Brady 16 

 17 
 In Brady, the Supreme Court held that “the suppression 18 

by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon 19 

request violates due process where the evidence is material 20 

either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good 21 

faith or bad faith of the prosecution.”  Brady, 373 U.S. at 22 

87.  Even in the absence of a request for disclosure of 23 

evidence, the prosecution still violates the Brady rule 24 

when it fails to disclose material, exculpatory evidence.  25 

Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 433 (1995) (citing U.S. v. 26 

Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 682 (1985)).  Evidence is material 27 

when “’there is a reasonable probability that, had the 28 

evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the 29 

proceeding would have been different.’”  Id.10  Petitioner 30 

                                                 
10 The “materiality” standard for Brady violations is the same as the 
“prejudice” standard for ineffective assistance of counsel claims.  See 
Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694 (“[T]he appropriate test for prejudice 
finds its roots in the test for materiality of exculpatory information 
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has alleged innumerable Brady violations, and here focuses 1 

on three pieces of evidence that the state failed to 2 

disclose: First, the state failed to disclose a bullet 3 

recovered from Senator Kennedy’s neck during the autopsy; 4 

second, the state had evidence of bullets at the scene that 5 

it did not disclose to defense counsel; and third, the 6 

state violated Brady in delaying its disclosure of the 7 

autopsy report. 8 

 The first Brady violation derives from the state’s 9 

failure to disclose a bullet recovered from Senator 10 

Kennedy’s neck.  According to the autopsy report, Dr. 11 

Noguchi extracted a bullet from Senator Kennedy’s neck, 12 

marked the base of the bullet “TN 31” “for future 13 

identification,” and turned the bullet over to Sergeant 14 

Jordan of the LAPD.  (Exh. 1, Mediocolegal Investigation on 15 

the Death of Senator Robert F. Kennedy, Thomas T. Noguchi, 16 

M.D., 24.)  In his testimony before the Grand Jury, Dr. 17 

Noguchi is shown a bullet for identification, states that 18 

it is the bullet he recovered from Senator Kennedy’s neck, 19 

and specifically mentions that it bears the “TN 31” mark he 20 

placed on it.  (Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus, 28, 21 

May 25, 2000.)  At Petitioner’s trial, People’s Exhibit 47 22 

was offered and received into evidence as the bullet 23 

                                                                                                                                                 
not disclosed to the defense by the prosecution.... The defendant must 
show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's 
unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been 
different.”).  Moreover, because “the reviewing court may consider 
directly any adverse effect that the prosecutor’s failure to [disclose] 
might have had on the preparation or presentation of he defendant’s 
case,” U.S. v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 683 (1985),and because a court 
“consider[s] the cumulative prejudicial effect of multiple trial errors 
in determining whether relief is warranted,” Phillips v. Woodford, 267 
F.3d 966, 985 (9th Cir. 2001) (citing Mak v. Blodgett, 970 F.2d 614, 
622 (9th Cir.1992) (per curiam) (collecting cases)), the issue of 
“materiality” for the Brady violations and “prejudice” for the 
ineffective assistance of counsel claim are considered together § 
III(C), infra. 
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recovered from Senator Kennedy’s neck.  De Wayne Wolfer, a 1 

criminalist with the LAPD, testified that he had achieved a 2 

ballistics “match” between a bullet Wolfer test-fired from 3 

Petitioner’s revolver and People’s 47, the bullet recovered 4 

from Senator Kennedy’s neck.  Id. at 27.   5 

 Dr. Noguchi was never shown People’s 47 at trial.  In 6 

1974, Dr. Noguchi appeared before the county Board of 7 

Supervisors and is shown a bullet.  He identified it as the 8 

one that he removed from Senator Kennedy’s neck and again 9 

states that it bears the “TN 31” mark on the base of the 10 

bullet.  Id. at 29.  In 1975, Superior Court Judge Robert 11 

A. Wenke appointed a panel of seven experts to review 12 

Wolfer’s conclusions.11  Id.  As a condition of the panel 13 

investigation, the court required Wolfer to certify that 14 

the bullets to be placed before him in court were the ones 15 

he examined in 1968.  One of the experts, Patrick Garland, 16 

examines the bullet Wolfer certified as the Kennedy neck 17 

bullet, and observes that the base of the bullet is mark 18 

“DN” “TN” on the base, not “TN 31.”  Id. at 29-30.   19 

 Thus on at least three separate occasions-the autopsy 20 

report, his grand jury testimony, and his appearance before 21 

the County Board of Supervisors in 1974-Dr. Noguchi 22 

identified the bullet he extracted from Senator Kennedy’s 23 

neck by reference to the “TN 31” mark he put on the base of 24 

the bullet.  Conversely, De Wayne Wolfer was never asked to 25 

                                                 
11 The seven experts were: (1) Stanton O. Berg, Independent Examiner, 
Minneapolis, MN; (2) Alfred A Biasotti, California Department of 
Justice Laboratory, Sacramento, CA; (3) Lowell W. Bradford, Forensic 
Scientist, San Jose, CA; (4) Cortlandt Cunningham, FBI Laboratory, 
Washington, D.C.; (5) Patrick V. Garland, Tidewater Regional 
Laboratory, Norfolk, VA; (6) Charles V. Morton, Forensic Scientist, 
Oakland, CA; and, (7) Ralph F. Turner, Forensic Scientist, East 
Lansing, MI. (Book, 78). 
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describe the bullet he examined at trial,12 and when he was 1 

asked to identify the bullet as the one he “matched” to 2 

Petitioner’s gun in 1975, the bullet bore the markings “DN” 3 

“TN.”  Wolfer was the only witness to be shown People’s 47 4 

at trial, (Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus, 28, May 5 

25, 2000.)  Wolfer would later confirm before the 1975 6 

panel that the bullet he identified at trial as having been 7 

removed from Senator Kennedy’s neck and as matching a test-8 

fired bullet from Petitioner’s weapon bore the markings 9 

“TN” “DN.”  Yet, Dr. Noguchi has consistently stated that 10 

the bullet he extracted from Senator Kennedy’s neck was 11 

marked “TN 31.”  In addition, pursuant to a court order, 12 

the bullet Dr. Noguchi extracted from Senator Kennedy’s 13 

neck be photographed with a Balliscan camera belonging the 14 

County Coroner’s Office.  (Petition for a Writ of Habeas 15 

Corpus, 29-30, May 25, 2000.)  According to both Professor 16 

Herbert Leon MacDonnell and criminalist William Harper, 17 

this photograph revealed a one cannelure bullet.  By 18 

contrast, all seven panelists that examined the bullet 19 

Wolfer presented as the Kennedy neck bullet in 1975 20 

unanimously agreed it was a two cannelure bullet.  Id. at 21 

33.  The only reasonable inference is that the bullet thus 22 

disclosed to the defense as the Kennedy neck bullet and 23 

introduced at trial as People’s 47 was a one cannelure 24 

bullet marked “DN” “TN,” yet the Dr. Noguchi’s autopsy 25 

report, testimony before the grand jury, and appearance 26 

before the county board of supervisors demonstrates that 27 

the Kennedy neck bullet was marked “TN 31.”  Moreover, 28 

Professor MacDonnell’s and criminalist Harper’s examination 29 

                                                 
12 The prosecution was able to dispense with the necessity of having 
Wolfer and/or Noguchi identify and describe the bullet because the 
defense stipulated to its authenticity.  Petition, 28. 
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of a photograph of the Kennedy neck bullet demonstrates it 1 

was a one cannelure bullet.  Since the two cannelure, “DN” 2 

“TN” bullet was introduced at trial, the only reasonable 3 

inference is that the one cannelure “TN 31” bullet was 4 

never disclosed to the defense in violation of Brady. 5 

 The second Brady violation Petitioner focuses upon 6 

here is the state’s suppression of evidence that bullets 7 

beyond that which were disclosed to the defense were 8 

recovered at the scene.  William Bailey, the first FBI 9 

agent to arrive on the scene, gave a written statement 10 

dated November 14, 1976, in which he wrote: “I...noted at 11 

least two (2) small caliber bullet holes in the center post 12 

of the two doors leading from the preparation room.  There 13 

was no question...that they were bullet holes and not 14 

caused by food carts or other equipment in the preparation 15 

room.”  FBI files containing a description of crime scene 16 

photos reveals that the bullets Agent Bailer observed were 17 

in fact removed.  Four photographs are listed in the 18 

document, E-1 through E-4.  E-1 is described as showing two 19 

circled bullet holes and the caption states “The portion of 20 

the panel missing also reportedly contained a bullet.”  21 

(Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus, 124-25, May 25, 22 

2000.)  Similarly, photographs E-2 and E-3 are also 23 

described as revealing two bullet holes each.  In addition, 24 

LAPD Officer Butler has stated in a taped interview with 25 

journalist and author Dan Moldea that he personally 26 

observed Wolfer remove two bullets from the center divider, 27 

which required disassembling it.  Corroborating this 28 

account is witness John Shirley, who wrote in 1969 that he 29 

had observed two circled bullet holes and that: “the center 30 

divider jamb was loose, and it appeared to have been 31 

removed from the framework so that bullets might be 32 
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extracted from behind.  It was then replaced but not firmly 1 

affixed.”  Id. at 12-27.  No explanation has ever been 2 

offered for what happened to the bullets that FBI photos,13 3 

Agent Bailey, and Officer Butler all confirm were removed 4 

from the pantry that evening.  None of the bullets, photos, 5 

or wood panels recovered at the scene were ever disclosed 6 

to defense counsel.   7 

 In addition to the ballistics evidence that the state 8 

never disclosed to the defense, the state also failed to 9 

disclose the autopsy report in a timely fashion.  10 

Petitioner’s trial commenced on January 7, 1969, and the 11 

jury was sworn February 5, 1969.  As recently as December 12 

23, 1968, the record affirmatively discloses that defense 13 

counsel had yet to receive a copy of the autopsy report.  14 

(Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus, 107-8, May 25, 15 

2000.)  There is no evidence in the record that the autopsy 16 

report was ever disclosed to the defense.  Defense 17 

investigator Robert Kaiser, however, did write a memo to 18 

lead defense counsel Grant Cooper on February 22, 1969 (two 19 

days prior to the testimony of the report’s author, Dr. 20 

                                                 
13 It is irrelevant, for the Brady analysis here, that the FBI, rather 
than state authorities, were in possession of the records because this 
was a cooperative investigation between the federal and state 
authorities, e.g. Owen v. Secretary for Dept. of Corrections, 568 F.3d 
894, 929 (11th Cir. 2009) (holding that state habeas petitioner had not 
sufficiently alleged a Brady violation for information in FBI 
possession because petitioner has not shown “that the State and the FBI 
had sufficiently pooled their resources such that the information in 
the FBI's possession could be imputed to the State.”); see also Taus v. 
Senkowski, 293 F.Supp.2d 238, 247 (E.D.N.Y. 2003) (Were a joint 
investigation and prosecutorial enterprise engaged in by the F.B.I. and 
a district attorney's office, it might be appropriate to impute 
knowledge of all F.B.I. reports to a state prosecutor.”), and because 
“a prosecutor a prosecutor has a duty to find any evidence favorable to 
the defendant that is known by the prosecution team, which includes 
their fellow attorneys and the police or FBI agents investigating the 
crime, that is, those acting on the government's behalf in the case 
against the accused,” Freeman v. U.S., 284 F.Supp.2d 217, 227 (D.Mass. 
2003) (citing Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 437, (1995); Strickler v. 
Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 281 (1999)). 
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Noguchi), pointing out that the autopsy defined the muzzle 1 

distance as being between one and two inches.  According to 2 

Kaiser’s declaration, it was his routine practice to do 3 

things right away and that he would have written this 4 

memorandum either on the day he received the autopsy report 5 

or at the latest two days after receiving it.  Id. at 109.  6 

It is true that “Brady does not necessarily require that 7 

the prosecution turn over exculpatory material before 8 

trial.”  U.S. v. Gordon, 844 F.2d 1397, 1409 (9th Cir. 9 

1988).  Brady does require, however, that disclosure “be 10 

made at a time when disclosure would be of value to the 11 

accused.”  U.S. v. Davenport, 753 F.2d 1460, 1462 (9th 12 

Cir.1985).  As will be discussed in § III(C), infra, 13 

disclosure of the autopsy report at this point in the trial 14 

was of no “value to the accused” because the “delay in 15 

disclosure only requires reversal if it so prejudiced 16 

appellant's preparation or presentation of his defense that 17 

he was prevented from receiving a fair trial.”  U.S. v. 18 

Shelton, 588 F.2d 1242, 1247 (9th Cir.1978), cert. denied, 19 

442 U.S. 909 (1979). 20 

B. Petitioner Was Denied Effective Assistance of Counsel 21 
Because Counsel Failed to Investigate Other Possible 22 
Defenses Counsel, Stipulated to the Authenticity of the 23 
Ballistics the State Offered, and Because Counsel Failed to 24 
Move for a Mistrial and/or Continuance once the Autopsy 25 
Report Was Disclosed 26 
 27 
 An ineffective assistance of counsel claim has two 28 

elements: (1) that counsel’s performance was 29 

constitutionally deficient; and, (2) that these 30 

deficiencies affirmatively “prejudiced” the defendant.  31 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687.  In addressing the deficiency 32 

prong, the Supreme Court has stated that a convicted 33 

defendant “must show that counsel's representation fell 34 
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below an objective standard of reasonableness.”  Id., 466 1 

U.S. at 687-88.  The Court declined to adopt “[m]ore 2 

specific guidelines” because “[n]o particular set of 3 

detailed rules for counsel's conduct can satisfactorily 4 

take account of the variety of circumstances faced by 5 

defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions 6 

regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant.”  7 

Id., 466 U.S. at 688-89.  To complement the generality of 8 

the “objective standard of reasonableness” beneath which 9 

counsel’s performance must fall in order to be considered 10 

constitutionally unreasonable, the Supreme Court stated in 11 

Strickland that “[a] convicted defendant making a claim of 12 

ineffective assistance must identify the acts or omissions 13 

of counsel that are alleged not to have been the result of 14 

reasonable professional judgment.”  Id. at 690.  Petitioner 15 

has alleged a variety of specific acts or omissions of 16 

counsel that were not “the result of reasonable 17 

professional judgment,” and in particular focuses upon 18 

three here: First, counsel’s stipulation to the 19 

authenticity of ballistics evidence, specifically People’s 20 

Exhibit 47, offered as the bullet recovered from Senator 21 

Kennedy’s neck; second, trial counsel’s failure to 22 

investigate other possible defenses; and third, counsel’s 23 

failure to move for a mistrial and/or continuance once the 24 

autopsy report was disclosed. 25 

 On February 21, 1969, in the middle of trial, defense 26 

counsel stipulated to the authenticity of bullets yet to be 27 

introduced.  (Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus, 28, May 28 

25, 2000.)  Specifically, defense counsel stipulated to the 29 

authenticity of what would become People’s 47, which De 30 

Wayne Wolfer testified was removed from Senator Kennedy’s 31 

neck during the autopsy and which Wolfer claimed to have 32 
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“matched” to a bullet test-fired from Petitioner’s 1 

revolver.  It may be that there is often little reason to 2 

question the authenticity of certain pieces of evidence, 3 

such as the state’s ballistics evidence, and thus there may 4 

often be no error for counsel’s failure to contest, or even 5 

counsel’s acquiescence in the admission, of that evidence.  6 

Moreover, in this instance, defense counsel had conceded 7 

that Petitioner did in fact shoot Senator Kennedy, 8 

presumably in an effort to preserve credibility before the 9 

jury in arguing that Petitioner should have been convicted 10 

of the lesser included offenses of second degree murder or 11 

manslaughter.  Id. at 109.  It may therefore appear as 12 

though “counsel's decision to stipulate to certain 13 

evidence...involves a strategic choice, which is ‘virtually 14 

unchallengeable’ if made after thorough investigation.”  15 

U.S. v. Gaskin, 364 F.3d 438, 468 (2d. Cir. 2004) (internal 16 

citations omitted).  Counsel’s decision to stipulate to the 17 

authenticity of the state’s ballistics evidence cannot be 18 

seen as an unassailable “strategic choice” because (1) 19 

defense received no corresponding benefit for its 20 

stipulation; (2) the stipulation was not based in fact; 21 

and, (3) the decision was not made after a “thorough 22 

investigation.” 23 

 No court has specifically held that the aforementioned 24 

three factors-corresponding benefit for the defense, the 25 

state’s ability to admit the evidence even in the absence 26 

of the defense’s stipulation, and a thorough investigation-27 

are requirements that defense counsel must meet so as to 28 

render effective assistance.  Nevertheless, virtually every 29 

case rejecting counsel’s stipulation to a piece of 30 

prosecution evidence exhibits one of these three 31 

characteristics.  The notion that a stipulation is a 32 
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“strategic choice” to the extent that defendant receives 1 

some sort of corresponding benefit is demonstrated by 2 

Sanchez v. Hedgpeth, 706 F.Supp.2d 963 (C.D.Ca. 2010).  In 3 

Hedgpeth, the defendant had previously been convicted of 4 

committing a lewd act with a minor, failure to register as 5 

a sex offender, and attempted robbery.  Defendant Sanchez 6 

was subsequently charged with, among other things, being a 7 

felon in possession of a weapon.  At trial, in an effort to 8 

keep the jury from hearing negative facts about his prior 9 

convictions, defense counsel stipulated to the fact of the 10 

prior convictions but did not reveal underlying factual 11 

bases for them.  On petition for a writ of habeas corpus, 12 

Sanchez argued this constituted ineffective assistance of 13 

counsel.  The court rejected this claim, reasoning that 14 

“the stipulation greatly benefitted Petitioner by keeping 15 

facts about his prior conviction from being admitted into 16 

evidence.”  Hedgpeth, 706 F.Supp.2d at 1004.   17 

 In contrast to Hedgpeth, Petitioner here derived no 18 

benefit from counsel’s stipulation to the authenticity of 19 

the ballistics evidence, in particular People’s 47.  20 

Conceding the authenticity of the ballistics evidence did 21 

not keep the jury from hearing negative facts about the 22 

petitioner, as in Hedgpeth.  Nor did stipulating to the 23 

authenticity of the ballistics evidence allow the 24 

introduction of favorable evidence for the Petitioner, see 25 

e.g. Little v. Murphy, 62 F.Supp.2d 262, 276 (D.Mass. 1999) 26 

(counsel did not act unreasonably in stipulating to the 27 

admission of witness statements that both revealed prior 28 

bad acts of the defendant and impeached a prosecution 29 

witness).  Lastly, this is not an instance where counsel 30 

declined to contest an obviously authentic piece of 31 

evidence in order to preserve credibility with the jury, 32 
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e.g., Gaskin, 364 F.3d at 469 (“Experienced defense 1 

attorneys routinely stipulate to undisputed facts in order 2 

to maintain credibility with the jury when challenging 3 

other aspects of the prosecution case. Castle's trial 4 

counsel cannot be deemed constitutionally ineffective for 5 

stipulating to his client's undisputed signatures on 6 

certain exhibits simply because he failed to anticipate a 7 

change in prosecution tactics with respect to a disputed 8 

signature on another exhibit.”), because declining to 9 

stipulate to the authenticity of the bullets would not have 10 

compromised counsel’s credibility with the jury.  Declining 11 

to stipulate to the authenticity of a piece of evidence is 12 

not comparable to actively contesting it.  The latter 13 

requires affirmative steps, through objections and/or 14 

presentation of rebuttal evidence.  By contrast, 15 

withholding consent to an exhibit’s authenticity require 16 

only that counsel stand mute. 17 

 With respect to the second factor, that the 18 

stipulation was not based in fact, the Eighth Circuit 19 

rejected a habeas petitioner’s claim that counsel rendered 20 

ineffective assistance in stipulating that a letter written 21 

to a newspaper was in the defendant’s and had defendant’s 22 

fingerprints on it, reasoning that the stipulation  23 

[W]as solidly based in fact.  Everything counsel 24 
stipulated to was true-including the ultimate 25 
fact, that [defendant] wrote the letter.  26 
[Defendant] himself has admitted under oath that 27 
he wrote the letter, and that he did it “of [his] 28 
own free will.”  The State could in fact have 29 
introduced evidence of the fingerprints, and 30 
could in fact have called the handwriting expert, 31 
and we have no doubt that it would have done so 32 
had Mr. Putzel refused to stipulate.  Smith v. 33 
Armontrout, 888 F.2d 530, 536 (8th Cir. 1990) 34 
(internal citations omitted).   35 

 36 
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See also Gaskin, 364 F.3d at 469 In contrast to Armontrout, 1 

where the stipulation “was solidly based in fact,” and 2 

Gaskin, where stipulation was “undisputed,” the prosecution 3 

conceded that it could not authenticate the bullets it was 4 

attempting to admit.  (Petition for a Writ of Habeas 5 

Corpus, 29, May 25, 2000.)  Despite the concession from the 6 

state that it was unable to authenticate a key piece of 7 

evidence, defense counsel saw fit to permit the state to 8 

introduce it, anyway.  Moreover, this stipulation was not 9 

made “after a thorough investigation.”  Rather, the defense 10 

rendered the stipulation after no investigation.  When 11 

determining if counsel’s acts or omissions are 12 

constitutionally unreasonable, the Supreme Court has stated 13 

that the inquiry should be guided by reference to 14 

“counsel's function, as elaborated in prevailing 15 

professional norms, is to make the adversarial testing 16 

process work in the particular case.”  Strickland, 466 U.S. 17 

at 690.  In removing the prosecution’s burden of proving 18 

the authenticity of its ballistics evidence after the state 19 

had conceded it would be unable to do so, counsel failed to 20 

“make the adversarial process work in the particular case.”  21 

Rather, where the state has conceded that it cannot 22 

authenticate a key piece of evidence, surely no reasonable 23 

defense attorney would concede the authenticity of that 24 

evidence.  This is not to suggest that where contesting a 25 

piece of evidence might harm counsel’s credibility with 26 

respect to a chosen trial strategy that the Constitution 27 

requires defense counsel to actively contest a piece of 28 

evidence by, for example, introducing evidence to rebut its 29 

authenticity.  But nor does the Constitution permit a 30 

conviction to stand where counsel acquiesced to the 31 



37 
 

admission of a key piece of evidence despite possessing the 1 

knowledge that the prosecution could not authenticate it. 2 

 In addition to rendering constitutionally unreasonable 3 

assistance by stipulating to the authenticity of the 4 

state’s ballistics evidence, counsel also was ineffective 5 

in failing to investigate alternative defenses.  Defense 6 

counsel in this case conducted zero investigation into the 7 

facts surrounding it, taking at face value everything that 8 

the state asserted.  For example, after reviewing the 9 

ballistics evidence prior to Petitioner’s trial, 10 

criminalist William Harper concluded that there was no 11 

ballistics match between Petitioner’s weapon and the 12 

bullets recovered from Senator Kennedy and victims Weisel 13 

and Goldstein  Robert J. Joling and Philip Van Praag, An 14 

Open & Shut Case: How a “rush to judgment” led to failed 15 

justice in the Robert F. Kennedy Assassination viii (2008).  16 

When confronted with this evidence, lead defense counsel 17 

Grant Cooper did nothing except to continue with his trial 18 

strategy of conceding Petitioner’s guilt so as to argue 19 

diminished capacity.  Cooper was again confronted with 20 

evidence that the ballistics match the Wolfer and the state 21 

claimed matched Petitioner’s weapon to bullets recovered 22 

from Senator Kennedy and other victims when the prosecution 23 

conceded that they could not establish the authenticity of 24 

that evidence.  Not only did counsel decline to investigate 25 

this claim, but he actually made it easier on the state by 26 

stipulating to the bullets’ authenticity.  Yet a third 27 

example of counsel’s failure to consider the alternative 28 

defense strategy that Petitioner did not fire the fatal 29 

shot is that upon belatedly receiving the autopsy report 30 

indicating that Senator Kennedy was shot from behind and 31 

that the gun that shot Senator Kennedy was no more than two 32 
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inches away, defense counsel declined to move for a 1 

continuance to investigate and possibly alter his trial 2 

strategy.   3 

 In 1972, Cooper explained his decision not to 4 

investigate as follows: 5 

I did not retain an independent ballistics expert 6 
to analyze the slugs... Had I any feeling that in 7 
a case of this importance, Mr. Wolfer either 8 
willfully falsified his ballistics analysis or 9 
negligently, improperly, or otherwise arrived at 10 
his conclusions, I would have hired an 11 
independent ballistics expert....Because of my 12 
firm belief that Sirhan alone fired the shots and 13 
that Mr. Wolfer was testifying correctly under 14 
oath I did not have the bullets independently 15 
analyzed.  Id. at 64. 16 
 17 

Putting aside for the moment the implausibility that this 18 

is probably the first time in the history of jurisprudence 19 

that a defense lawyer that a police officer would not 20 

negligently misrepresent evidence, the statement is 21 

entirely implausible on its face.  Cooper had up to and 22 

during the trial at least three objective indicia that 23 

Wolfer had either negligently or willfully misstated his 24 

conclusions: First, there is Harper’s conclusion that no 25 

match could be identified between Petitioner’s weapon and 26 

bullets recovered from the victims; second, there is the 27 

state’s representation that they would be unable to 28 

authenticate the bullets offered and accepted into evidence 29 

at trial; and third, there is the autopsy report, which, 30 

had Cooper read it and followed through, would have shown 31 

him not only that the bullet the state admitted as having 32 

been recovered from Senator Kennedy was not in fact so, but 33 

also that it was literally impossible for Petitioner to 34 

have shot Senator Kennedy.  See § III(C), infra.  Defense 35 

counsel’s failure to adequately investigate the possibility 36 
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of a second shooter goes well beyond his failure to hire an 1 

independent ballistics expert.  Counsel did not fail to 2 

request even the most rudimentary pre- or in-trial 3 

examination of the bullet identification evidence, nor did 4 

he proffer any cross-examination of the state’s 5 

presentation of the ballistics evidence.   6 

 In arguing against the allegation of ineffective 7 

assistance, respondent relies upon the “overwhelming” 8 

evidence of Petitioner’s guilt, in particular Petitioner’s 9 

own version of the events implicating him, and the fact 10 

that Petitioner’s guilt was undisputed at trial.  (Resp. 11 

Answer 16-18.)  Neither of these are persuasive reasons for 12 

denying an ineffective assistance claim here.  First, 13 

counsel’s failure to dispute Petitioner’s guilt at trial is 14 

itself one of the specific “acts or omissions” that 15 

Petitioner now alleges denied him of his constitutional 16 

right to effective assistance.  Specifically, as discussed 17 

in the preceding paragraph, counsel’s decision to concede 18 

Petitioner’s guilt and argue diminished capacity was 19 

constitutionally unreasonable because it was not made after 20 

proper investigation.  It is true that “defense counsel 21 

does not have an obligation to pursue an alternative, 22 

conflicting defense once he reasonably selects the defense 23 

to present at trial.”  Phillips v. Woodford, 267 F.3d 966, 24 

979 (9th Cir. 2001).  As the Ninth Circuit qualified, 25 

however, “the critical words...are’ “reasonably selected.’”  26 

Id. at 980.  In explaining why counsel’s choice to focus on 27 

an alibi defense was not made after a reasonable 28 

investigation into alternatives, the Ninth Circuit wrote 29 

that trial counsel “testified at a state-court evidentiary 30 

hearing that he would have presented the alternative 31 

defense had he had certain documents in his possession; the 32 
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state habeas court later made a factual finding that 1 

[counsel] indeed had that information in his possession at 2 

the time of the trial.  Moreover, by his own admission, 3 

[counsel] believed Phillips's alibi defense to be an 4 

unreasonable one.”  Id.  Similar to counsel’s assertion in 5 

Woodford that he would have presented the alternative 6 

defense if he had certain documents, Grant Cooper stated 7 

that if he had “any feeling” that the Wolfer’s ballistics 8 

conclusions were “improper” he would have explored an 9 

alternative defense denying Petitioner’s guilt.  Joling & 10 

Van Praag, supra, at 64.  In addition, just as it was later 11 

found that trial counsel in Woodford “indeed had the 12 

information in his possession” that he claimed was a 13 

precondition to his exploring alternative defenses, so too 14 

did Cooper have notice that Wolfer’s conclusions were 15 

erroneous in the form of Harper’s conclusions to that 16 

effect, the state’s concession that they could not 17 

authenticate the ballistics evidence, and the autopsy 18 

report revealing both that Petitioner could not have shot 19 

Senator Kennedy (see § III(C), infra) and that the bullet 20 

removed from Senator Kennedy’s neck was not in fact the one 21 

presented at trial.  Lastly, just as counsel’s failure to 22 

investigate an alternative to the alibi defense in Woodford 23 

was unreasonable because it was based on counsel’s belief 24 

that “Phillips’s alibi defense [was] an unreasonable one,” 25 

so too was Cooper’s failure to investigate the possibility 26 

of a second shooter unreasonable because it was based on 27 

his “firm belief that Sirhan alone fired the shots and that 28 

Mr. Wolfer was testifying correctly under oath.”  Joling & 29 

Van Praag, supra, at 64. 30 

 Respondent’s reliance upon Petitioner’s version of 31 

events is similarly unpersuasive.  In Woodford, the Ninth 32 



41 
 

Circuit found that counsel’s performance was 1 

constitutionally deficient because counsel had failed to 2 

investigate the alibi put forth by his own client, which 3 

turned out to be a weak defense and resulted in a 4 

conviction.  Woodford, 267 F.3d at 978-979).  Thus although 5 

Petitioner’s statements may be relevant in assessing the 6 

“prejudice” prong of an ineffective assistance claim, 7 

simply listening to one’s own client is no defense to an 8 

accusation of constitutionally inadequate representation. 9 

 10 
C. The Cumulative Effect of These Constitutional 11 
Errors is that There is Not Only a Reasonable 12 
Probability that, but for the Constitutional 13 
Violations, the Outcome of Petitioner’s Trial Would 14 
Have Been Different, But Also That It Is More Likely 15 
Than Not that No Reasonable Juror Would Have Convicted 16 
Him In the Light of the New Evidence 17 

 18 

 In determining both if the government has violated its 19 

disclosure obligations under Brady and whether a defendant 20 

has sufficiently alleged ineffective assistance of counsel, 21 

the defendant must show that but for the constitutional 22 

errors, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome 23 

of the proceedings would have been different.  See e.g., 24 

Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 433 (“constitutional error 25 

results from its suppression by the government, if there is 26 

a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been 27 

disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding 28 

would have been different.”); see e.g., Strickland, 466 29 

U.S. at 694 (“The defendant must show that there is a 30 

reasonable probability that, but for counsel's 31 

unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would 32 

have been different.”).  Moreover, a court “consider[s] the 33 

cumulative prejudicial effect of multiple trial errors in 34 
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determining whether relief is warranted,” Phillips v. 1 

Woodford, 267 F.3d 966, 985 (9th Cir. 2001) (citing Mak v. 2 

Blodgett, 970 F.2d 614, 622 (9th Cir.1992) (per curiam) 3 

(collecting cases)).  Thus although any of the individual 4 

errors assert in §§III(1)-(2), supra, may not, by 5 

themselves, be sufficient to meet the materiality and 6 

prejudice standards for Brady and ineffective assistance 7 

claims, respectively, the court should still grant relief 8 

if it can be demonstrated that the combined effect of the 9 

errors is such that had they not occurred there is a 10 

reasonable probability that the result of Petitioner’s 11 

trial would have been different. 12 

 The burden of proof for actual innocence, meanwhile, 13 

is much higher than that for Brady violations or 14 

ineffective assistance claims.  In order to meet the burden 15 

of proof, a habeas petitioner asserting the “actual 16 

innocence” exception to the procedural default rule 17 

petitioner “must show that it is more likely than not that 18 

no reasonable juror would have convicted him in the light 19 

of the new evidence.”  Id., 513 U.S. at 327.  Petitioner 20 

respectfully submits that it is more likely than not that 21 

no reasonable juror would have convicted him in light of 22 

the new evidence.  Petitioner can show that it is more 23 

likely than not that no reasonable juror would convict 24 

because not only does the evidence not introduced at trial 25 

because of Brady violations and ineffective assistance 26 

preclude Petitioner as the shooter, it also unequivocally 27 

shows that there was in fact a second gunman.   28 

 The report of the autopsy that Dr. Thomas Noguchi, 29 

then chief medical examiner for Los Angeles County, 30 

authored discloses three bullet wounds in Senator Kennedy.  31 

For each of these three bullet wounds, there is a column 32 
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for “direction,” and for each of the three bullet wounds 1 

the direction is described as “back to front.”  (Exh. 1, 2-2 

3.)  The undeniable conclusion from the autopsy report is 3 

that whoever fired the bullets into Senator Kennedy did so 4 

from behind.  Not a single witness, however, places 5 

petitioner behind Senator Kennedy at the time of the 6 

shooting.  (Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus, 110, May 7 

25, 2000.)  In fact, every single eyewitness places 8 

petitioner in front of Senator Kennedy when the shooting 9 

occurred.  For example, eyewitness Martin Patrusky, a 10 

banquet waiter at the Ambassador Hotel, provided a 11 

statement in which he said “Kennedy’s back was not facing 12 

Sirhan.  Sirhan was slightly to the right front of 13 

Kennedy.”  Id. at 112.  Similarly, eyewitness Vincent Di 14 

Pierro, also a waiter at the Ambassador Hotel, provided the 15 

FBI with a signed statement in which he stated: “Senator 16 

Kennedy…turned to his right in the direction of the heating 17 

cabinet and at that time I saw the white male…standing…at 18 

the heating cabinet.  I saw this individual….[Shoot] 19 

Senator Kennedy in the head.”  Id.  As Di Pierro has 20 

Senator Kennedy facing the heating cabinet where the 21 

shooter is standing, Di Pierro’s statement places 22 

petitioner in front of the victim.  Moreover, in his 23 

testimony before the grand jury, eyewitness Karl Uecker, 24 

corroborates Di Pierro’s placement of petitioner at the 25 

heating cabinet, in front of Senator Kennedy.  Joling & Van 26 

Praag, supra, at 94-95.  Another eyewitness, Ambassador 27 

Hotel maître ‘d Edward Minasian, testified in front of the 28 

grand jury that he was approximately two feet in front of 29 

Senator Kennedy, and that petitioner, in turn, was in front 30 

of Minasian, near the steam heater, when petitioner began 31 

firing his weapon.  Id. at 100-01.  Two other witnesses, 32 
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Richard Lubic and Frank Burns, corroborate petitioner’s 1 

position as in front of Senator Kennedy near the steam 2 

table, Id. at 106-08, through their testimony at 3 

petitioner’s trial.   4 

 The eyewitness testimony combines with the autopsy 5 

report conclusively proves that petitioner could not have 6 

killed Senator Kennedy.  Every single witness places 7 

petitioner in front of Senator Kennedy at the time of the 8 

shooting, and the autopsy report unequivocally demonstrates 9 

that Senator Kennedy was shot from his back.  It is 10 

therefore literally impossible for petitioner to have shot 11 

Senator Kennedy.  Moreover, the evidence contained within 12 

the autopsy report regarding the angle of the entry wounds 13 

was never presented at trial (Decl. of Dr. Cyril M. Wecht, 14 

2:7-8), and as such qualifies as “new evidence” of actual 15 

innocence.   16 

 Even though the new evidence of the angle of the entry 17 

wound contained within the autopsy report and the 18 

eyewitness testimony regarding petitioner’s location at the 19 

time of the shooting conclusively prove that it could not 20 

have been petitioner who shot Senator Kennedy, the 21 

eyewitnesses and the autopsy report contain additional 22 

evidence exonerating petitioner. Specifically, the autopsy 23 

and eyewitness evidence conclusively prove that petitioner 24 

was never close enough to Senator Kennedy to have made the 25 

wounds that Dr. Noguchi observed.  The autopsy report 26 

reveals the Dr. Noguchi observed powder burns around each 27 

of the three bullet wounds on Senator Kennedy, and that 28 

this is “consistent with very close range shooting.”  29 

Joling & Van Praag, supra, 420-21, 428.  According to the 30 

autopsy report, Dr. Noguchi and members of the LAPD 31 

conducted a test firing on June 11, 1968, in order to 32 
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replicate the powder burns that Dr. Noguchi observed around 1 

Senator Kennedy’s wounds. The autopsy report states, “the 2 

test pattern is most similar to the powder residue pattern 3 

noted on the Senator’s [wounds]” when the gun is fired at a 4 

distance of one inch.  The “[s]imilarity persists” from a 5 

range of up to two inches, according to the report.  (Exh. 6 

1, 39-40.) 7 

 According to Dr. Cyril Wecht, a licensed medical 8 

examiner who consulted with Dr. Noguchi for the autopsy and 9 

has reviewed the autopsy report, the only conclusion that 10 

can be drawn from this evidence is that Senator Kennedy was 11 

shot “at a maximum distance of one to one and one half 12 

inches” (Decl. of Dr. Cyril Wecht, 1:21-27); (Petition for 13 

a Writ of Habeas Corpus, 110, May 25, 2000.)  Petitioner 14 

could not have fired the bullet that killed Senator Kennedy 15 

because he was never close enough to the victim, nor was he 16 

behind him as the autopsy indicated the perpetrator was.  17 

There were twelve eyewitnesses to the shooting.  The 18 

closest any of them places petitioner’s weapon to Senator 19 

Kennedy is one foot, with an outside distance of five feet.  20 

Karl Uecker, who was closest to petitioner and actually 21 

grabbed hold of his arm while petitioner was firing, has 22 

stated that petitioner’s weapon was approximately 1 ½-2 23 

feet from Senator Kennedy, and in front of him.  The 24 

eyewitness and autopsy evidence thus further prove that 25 

petitioner could not have killed Senator Kennedy because 26 

where the autopsy report conclusively states that the gun 27 

that shot Senator Kennedy was no farther than two inches 28 

away and fired from behind him.  The eyewitness evidence 29 

unequivocally places petitioner’s weapon no closer than one 30 

foot, and never behind the Senator. 31 
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 In addition to the eyewitness evidence and autopsy 1 

report, there is ballistics evidence, not offered at trial, 2 

that refutes the evidence offered by the prosecution that 3 

the bullet which killed Senator Kennedy is a match for the 4 

weapon that petitioner fired that night.  At petitioner’s 5 

trial, De Wayne Wolfer, an LAPD criminalist, testified that 6 

he achieved a ballistics match between the bullet recovered 7 

from Senator Kennedy and one he test-fired from 8 

petitioner’s weapon.  (Petition for a Writ of Habeas 9 

Corpus, 27, May 25, 2000.)  In 1975, Superior Court Judge 10 

Robert A. Wenke appointed a panel of seven experts to 11 

review Wolfer’s conclusions.14  Id. at 29.  All seven of 12 

these experts agreed that Wolfer’s opinion testimony 13 

matching the Kennedy bullet with one test-fired from 14 

petitioner’s was erroneous and insupportable.  Id. at 31. 15 

Not only that, but the independent panel was unable to 16 

match the bullets recovered from any of the other victims 17 

to one’s test-fired from petitioner’s weapon.  The panel 18 

did, however, manage to match three of the bullets 19 

recovered from the victims to each other, demonstrating 20 

that neither time nor storage conditions caused a 21 

degradation in the conditions of the bullets that would 22 

alter ballistics tests.  Joling & Van Praag, supra, at 84.  23 

None of this ballistics evidence was presented at trial, 24 

and it is certainly sufficient to cast serious doubt upon 25 

Wolfer’s testimony that there was a ballistics match 26 

                                                 
14 The seven experts were: (1) Stanton O. Berg, Independent Examiner, 
Minneapolis, MN; (2) Alfred A Biasotti, California Department of 
Justice Laboratory, Sacramento, CA; (3) Lowell W. Bradford, Forensic 
Scientist, San Jose, CA; (4) Cortlandt Cunningham, FBI Laboratory, 
Washington, D.C.; (5) Patrick V. Garland, Tidewater Regional 
Laboratory, Norfolk, VA; (6) Charles V. Morton, Forensic Scientist, 
Oakland, CA; and, (7) Ralph F. Turner, Forensic Scientist, East 
Lansing, MI. (Book, 78). 
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between petitioner’s weapon and the bullet removed from 1 

Senator Kennedy. 2 

 In addition to the ballistics evidence casting serious 3 

doubts upon the state’s assertion that there was a 4 

ballistics match between Petitioner’s weapon and a bullet 5 

recovered from Senator Kennedy during the autopsy, there is 6 

audio, ballistics, and eyewitness evidence, though 7 

previously not available, that now demonstrates the 8 

existence of an additional shooter other than petitioner.  9 

During the shooting, a Canadian reporter named Stanislaw 10 

Pruszynski had inadvertently left his tape recorder on and 11 

recorded the entire incident (Decl. of Robert K. Jolling, 12 

JD, 4:2-6).  Phillip Van Praag, in collaboration with 13 

Robert Jolling, a fellow and past president of the American 14 

Forensic Sciences institute, utilized technology and 15 

techniques not available at the time to identify 13 16 

distinct “shot-sounds” on the tape (Jolling Decl., 4:25-17 

27).  Van Praag and Jolling have concluded that the sounds 18 

they heard were, in fact, gun shots rather than, for 19 

example, balloons popping.  According to Van Praag, the 20 

sound from a gun-shot is caused by the vibration of the 21 

weapon interacting with its mass.  Bullets, because they 22 

have a good deal of mass, “resonate” for a much longer 23 

period than objects with much lighter mass, such as 24 

balloons.  Van Praag has concluded that the resonances he 25 

heard on the tape resonated for far too long to be anything 26 

other than a bullet.  27 

 Van Praag’s conclusion that he heard 13 distinct 28 

“shot-sounds” conclusively demonstrates that there was in 29 

fact an additional shooter on the night in question.  Van 30 

Praag’s conclusions demonstrate the existence of a second 31 

shooter because petitioner utilized a .22 caliber Iver-32 
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Johnson revolver on the night of the incident (e.g., 1 

Jolling Decl., 5:18-26).  After emptying his weapon, 2 

petitioner did not reload.  Indeed, petitioner could not 3 

have reloaded because Karl Uecker had pinned his arm down 4 

and, along with others, subdued petitioner before he ever 5 

had an opportunity to reload.   This is not now and has 6 

never been disputed.  Given that the audio evidence 7 

demonstrates that 13 shots were fired, and given that 8 

petitioner could only have fired eight rounds, Van Praag’s 9 

audio analysis conclusively demonstrates the existence of a 10 

second shooter.   11 

 Van Praag’s audio analysis is not limited to the 12 

number of bullets fired.  Rather, Van Praag also heard on 13 

the tape two sets of “double-shots,” i.e. two shots fired 14 

extremely close together in time.  The first set of double-15 

shots that Van Praag detected have a separation of 149 16 

milliseconds, and the second set of double shots Van Praag 17 

heard are separated by 122 milliseconds (roughly a rate of 18 

8 per second).  According to firearms experts, two or three 19 

shots per second is considered fast, and the world’s record 20 

is reported at 140 milliseconds between shots.  Petitioner 21 

utilized an Iver Johnson Cadet 55SA eight shot revolver on 22 

the night of the shooting.  The Iver Johnson is a 1950’s 23 

low-priced revolver known for its heavy trigger pull and it 24 

contains only eight shots.  In 2007, Discovery Time Channel 25 

conducted a rapid-fire test of the Iver Johnson Cadet 55 26 

model, using a noted firearms expert.  The fastest two shot 27 

firing interval this expert could achieve was 366 28 

milliseconds.  Petitioner’s weapon therefore simply cannot 29 

be responsible for the two sets of “double-shots” that Van 30 

Praag identified because he simply could not have pulled 31 

the trigger in such rapid succession.  Moreover, at least 32 
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two eyewitnesses, Attorney Evan Phillip Freed and Booker 1 

Griffin, report seeing a second shooter during the 2 

incident.   These eyewitness accounts corroborate what Van 3 

Praag’s audio evidence already conclusively proves: that 4 

there was a second shooter on the night in question.  None 5 

of this evidence was ever presented at trial. 6 

 Respondent relies heavily upon the fact that 7 

Petitioner’s guilt was undisputed at trial, and that 8 

Petitioner did in fact confess to the crimes while 9 

testifying.  The failure to dispute Petitioner’s guilt at 10 

trial, however, was the result of the state’s failure to 11 

disclose exculpatory evidence to the defense in violation 12 

of Brady.  Specifically, without the autopsy report 13 

demonstrating that the eyewitness testimony regarding 14 

Petitioner’s placement and distance from Senator Kennedy 15 

rendered it scientifically impossible for Petitioner to 16 

have fired the bullets that hit Senator Kennedy, and 17 

without the evidence that police recovered more than eight 18 

bullets at the scene, there was little evidentiary basis 19 

for the defense to dispute Petitioner’s guilt.  In 20 

determining Brady error, “the reviewing court may consider 21 

directly any adverse effect that the prosecutor’s failure 22 

to [disclose] might have had on the preparation or 23 

presentation of the defendant’s case.” U.S. v. Bagley, 473 24 

U.S. 667, 683 (1985).  The failure of the defense team to 25 

contest Petitioner’s guilt at trial can therefore not be a 26 

persuasive piece of evidence because that failure is itself 27 

the product of constitutional error, both in the form of 28 

ineffective assistance and through numerous Brady 29 

violations.   30 

 The evidence at trial is not compelling not just 31 

because much it was the product of constitutional 32 
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violation, but also because in the “actual innocence” 1 

context, a focus on the evidence that was presented at 2 

trial is misplaced because, as the Supreme Court held in 3 

Schlup: 4 

In assessing the adequacy of petitioner's 5 
showing, therefore, the district court is not 6 
bound by the rules of admissibility that would 7 
govern at trial. Instead, the emphasis on “actual 8 
innocence” allows the reviewing tribunal also to 9 
consider the probative force of relevant evidence 10 
that was either excluded or unavailable at 11 
trial….The habeas court must make its de-12 
termination concerning the petitioner's innocence 13 
‘in light of all the evidence, including that 14 
alleged to have been illegally admitted (but with 15 
due regard to any unreliability of it) and 16 
evidence tenably claimed to have been wrongly 17 
excluded or to have become available only after 18 
the trial.’  Schlup, 513 U.S. at 327-28 (internal 19 
citations omitted). 20 
 21 

The result of combining the Bagley rule that “prejudice” 22 

resulting from suppression of evidence “any adverse effect 23 

that the prosecutor’s failure to [disclose] might have had 24 

on the preparation or presentation of the defendant’s case” 25 

and the Schlup rule that a court reviewing an actual 26 

innocence claim should “consider the probative force of 27 

relevant evidence that was either excluded or unavailable 28 

at trial” is that it is irrelevant whether “the trial 29 

record contained sufficient evidence to support the jury's 30 

verdict” when assessing an “actual innocence” claim.  31 

Schlup, 513 U.S. at 327, 331.   32 

 Respondent has argued that the “presence of a second 33 

gunman would not exculpate petitioner.”   Other than this 34 

blanket statement, the respondent offers no argument why 35 

this is the case.  Certainly if it could be shown that 36 

someone other than petitioner actually shot Senator Kennedy 37 
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that would exculpate him as a principal in the murder.  Nor 1 

is it clear that petitioner could have been found guilty 2 

for aiding and abetting in this crime.  In California, 3 

accomplice liability “results from an act by the 4 

perpetrator to which the accomplice contributed,” People v. 5 

Prettyman, 14 Cal.4th 248, 259 (1996) (emphasis added), and 6 

the state must prove, among other things, that the 7 

defendant acted “with knowledge of the unlawful purpose of 8 

the perpetrator.”  Id. (citing People v. Beeman, 35 Cal.3d 9 

547 (1984)) (emphasis added).  Here, there is no evidence 10 

to suggest that petitioner in any way “contributed” to the 11 

acts of the other shooter, nor that he had any knowledge of 12 

that shooter or his criminal purpose.  In fact, the state 13 

has consistently denied the existence of a second shooter, 14 

and thus cannot here rely upon a theory of accomplice 15 

liability.  Nor can the state rely upon a theory of 16 

conspiratorial liability.  As in most jurisdictions, 17 

California requires proof of an agreement between two or 18 

more people in order to prove a criminal conspiracy.  19 

People v. Jurado, 38 Cal.4th 72, 120 (2006).  There is 20 

absolutely no evidence of any agreement between petitioner 21 

and another to commit the crime, so he cannot be guilty of 22 

conspiracy to commit murder.   23 

 Perhaps in arguing that the presence of a second 24 

gunman would not exculpate Petitioner, Respondent means to 25 

suggest that even though there may have been a second 26 

shooter, it was still Petitioner who killed Senator 27 

Kennedy.  The autopsy report combined with eyewitness 28 

testimony placing Petitioner in front of and at least a 29 

foot away from Senator Kennedy refute any such argument.  30 

Or, Respondent could mean to suggest that eyewitness 31 

testimony is sufficient to show that, at a minimum, 32 
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Respondent is guilty of attempted homicide.  Assuming, for 1 

the moment, that there is sufficient evidence to 2 

demonstrate the intent element of this crime,15then the 3 

eyewitness testimony would appear to establish the other 4 

elements of this offense.  To clarify: no argument is 5 

asserted that Petitioner was not present on the night of 6 

the incident, and nor do we contend that Petitioner did not 7 

fire eight rounds from his weapon.  “Actual innocence,” 8 

however, does not require innocence in the broad sense of 9 

having led an entirely blameless life.”  Schlup v. Delo, 10 

513 U.S. 298, 328 n.47 (1995).  Rather, all that need be 11 

shown is that Petitioner is “actually innocent” for the 12 

crime of conviction.  Cf. Woodford, 267 F.3d 980-981 13 

(habeas petitioner’s claim that but-for errors he would 14 

have been convicted of a lesser offense and not death 15 

eligible establishes prejudice).   16 

 Respondent relies heavily on the fact that petitioner 17 

has, at several times immediately after the incident, at 18 

trial, and after the trial, admitted to shooting Senator 19 

Kennedy.  (Resp. Answer, 16-18.)  These admissions, 20 

however, cannot be taken at face value.  Petitioner has 21 

consistently stated that he has no memory of shooting 22 

Senator Kennedy.  Petitioner has even stated that his trial 23 

attorneys “inculcated” him with the belief that he killed 24 

Senator Kennedy (Exh. 2, 1.)  Moreover, due to the state’s 25 

violation of the Due Process Clause in presenting perjured 26 

testimony and withholding exculpatory evidence, as well as 27 

ineffective assistance of Petitioner’s trial counsel, it 28 

did appear at the time of Petitioner’s trial that there was 29 

overwhelming evidence of Petitioner’s guilt.  Given these 30 

                                                 
15 Intent was essentially the only thing that trial counsel actually did 
contest. 
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Exhibit Two: 
Letter from Petitioner to Counsel 

 
Disclaimer: Certain portions of this exhibit have been redacted to 

preserve attorney-client privilege. 
 

























 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit One:  
Report of Autopsy Conducted by Dr. Thomas Noguchi, Chief 

Medical Examiner of Los Angeles County, on Robert F. 
Kennedy 

 
Disclaimer: Counsel has added page numbers to this exhibit to 
assist the court in referencing it.  Not other modifications have 

been made. 
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